2001 – n° 05 July



Forum Economique Franco-Allemand Deutsch-Französisches Wirtschaftspolitisches Forum

The Impact of Eastern Enlargement on EU-Labour Markets

and

Pension Reforms between Economic and Political Problems

8th meeting, Berlin, January 16 2001

Forum Economique Franco-Allemand Deutsch-Französisches Wirtschaftspolitisches Forum

The Impact of Eastern Enlargement on EU-Labour Markets

and

Pension Reforms between Economic and Political Problems

8th meeting, Berlin, January 16 2001

2001 – n° 05 Juillet

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Forum Economique Franco-Allemand -	
Deutsch-Französisches Wirtschaftspolitisches Forum	4-5

The Impact of Eastern Enlargement on EU-Labour Markets

Herbert Brücker

1.	Introduction	6
2.	Differences in factor endowments and the likely speed of convergence	7
3.	Will the removal of trade barriers forster imports of cheap labour?	. 10
4.	Will capital market liberalisation affect the export of jobs to the East?	. 13
5.	Will Eu labour markets be swamped by migrants from the East?	. 14
6.	Conclusions	. 18
Refe	rences	. 20

Pensions Reform between Economic and Political Problems

Florence Legros

1.	Introduction	. 21
2.	Overview of the pension scheme situations	. 22
3.	Reforming pension schemes	.25
4.	Political economy considerations	. 31
Refe	rences	. 35
List o	of working papers released by the CEPII	.37

FORUM ECONOMIQUE FRANCO-ALLEMAND DEUTSCH-FRANZÖSISCHES WIRTSCHAFTSPOLITISCHES FORUM

Together with other members of the European Union, France and Germany are about to embark on an unprecedented cooperative venture. To be successful, Economic and Monetary Union will require a very high degree of mutual understanding among the policymakers of the participating countries. It will also require upgrading the dialogue between those who contribute to shaping the policy debates on both sides of the Rhine.

France and Germany have a long tradition of high-level dialogue and cooperation in the framework of bilateral and European institutions. But the dialogue between their civil societies does not match this spirit of cooperation. Economists and those involved in practical economic policy making from both countries in particular rarely talk to each other to find out why they may have differing visions of the functioning of Economic and Monetary Union and of the associated challenges, and even more rarely try to narrow the divergence of their views. This lack of dialogue contributes to keeping alive entrenched prejudices on the other country`s supposedly hidden policy agenda.

Yet, an Economic and Monetary Union in which policy debates with a bearing on European policy choices remain confined within national boundaries would be prone to instability, because disagreements about policies would tend to end up in disputes between countries. It is, therefore, of utmost importance to foster the emergence of a genuine *European* professional discussion on major economic policy issues.

The purpose of the *Deutsch-Französisches Wirtschaftspolitisches Forum*/ Forum *économique franco-allemand* is to contribute to this discussion through the organisation of a series of informal meetings between French and German economists.

The Forum assembles professional economists from academia, business and the public sector. As a non-partisan institution, the Forum brings together participants from all strands of thinking about economic policy with the aim of stimulating fruitful debate. Each meeting is devoted to one or two major policy issues: employment, exchange rate policies, the organisation of economic policy in Economic and Monetary Union, its relations with non-participating countries, and the immediate policy challenges on the eve of monetary union, to name just a few. The Forum commissions papers to provide an informed basis for the discussion, but the focus will be on debate and the exchange of views, starting with reactions from discussants whose role will be to present alternative views and to frame the key issues for the debate.

The proceedings of each meeting are published in working paper format. With the present brochure, we present papers of the discussion from the Forum's third meeting on July 6-7, 1998. We hope that this will be a useful input into an emerging public debate on Europe's economic policies in our two countries and beyond.

Jürgen von Hagen Jean Pisani-Ferry July 1997

FORUM ECONOMIQUE FRANCO-ALLEMAND DEUTSCH-FRANZÖSISCHES WIRTSCHAFTSPOLITISCHES FORUM

Avec les autres membres de l'Union européenne, la France et l'Allemagne vont s'engager dans une coopération d'une dimension sans précédent. Pour réussir, l'Union économique et monétaire devra s'appuyer sur un degré très élevé de compréhension mutuelle entre les responsables politiques des pays participants. L'UEM nécessitera aussi d'approfondir le dialogue entre ceux qui, de part et d'autre du Rhin, façonnent le débat politique.

La France et l'Allemagne ont une longue tradition de dialogue et de coopération qui se déroule tant dans le cadre bilatéral qu'au niveau des institutions européennes. Mais les échanges entre les membres de la société civile ne reflètent pas cet esprit de coopération. En particulier, les économistes des deux pays se rencontrent rarement pour débattre de leurs différences d'approche sur le fonctionnement de l'UEM et sur les défis qui en découlent, et encore moins pour tenter de rapprocher leurs points de vue. Ce manque de dialogue contribue à alimenter des préjugés bien ancrés quant aux objectifs politiques supposés cachés du partenaire.

Cependant, une UEM dans laquelle les débats politiques qui ont une incidence sur les choix de politique européenne resteraient cantonnés dans les frontières nationales serait vouée à l'instabilité, car les désaccords sur les politiques à suivre pourraient dégénérer en conflits entre les pays. C'est pourquoi il est essentiel d'encourager l'émergence d'un débat véritablement *européen* et professionnel sur les principaux enjeux de politique économique.

L'objectif du *Forum économique franco-allemand* est de contribuer à cet échange à travers l'organisation de réunions informelles entre économistes des deux pays.

Le Forum rassemblera un nombre restreint d'économistes professionnels (environ 12 de part et d'autre, auxquels se joindront des participants invités selon les sessions), issus tant des milieux académiques que du secteur public et privé, et reflétant aussi bien les points de vue favorables et opposés à l'UEM. Chaque rencontre se déroulera autour d'un ou deux thèmes centraux, tels que : l'emploi; l'UEM, les partenaires des pays de la zone euro ; la conduite de la politique économique en UEM ; les défis immédiats posés par le démarrage de l'union monétaire. Les organisateurs demanderont à des rapporteurs de préparer un texte qui servira de base informelle à la discussion, mais l'accent sera mis sur le débat et l'échange de points de vue, amorcés par les réactions des discutants qui présenteront un point de vue alternatif et délimiteront les points essentiels du débat. Les actes de chaque session seront publiés sous forme de document de travail.

> Jürgen von Hagen Jean Pisani-Ferry Juillet 1997

The Impact of Eastern Enlargement on EU-Labour Markets

Herbert Brücker German Institute for Economic Research (DIW Berlin)

1. INTRODUCTION

Eastern enlargement will change the character of the European Union (EU). While the EU was a club of rich economies at least from global perspectives throughout the post-war period, it will face a distinct gap in per capita income levels among its Members after accession of the ten candidate countries from Central and Eastern Europe (CEE). Given the magnitude of income and wage differentials, there are mounting concerns among the present EU Members that eastern enlargement may have a number of undesirable effects on labour markets and income distribution. In particular, a deterioration of living standards of the unskilled, associated with job displacement and wage losses triggered by the accession of low-income countries is feared.

The textbook models of trade theory do not dismiss these concerns. Although the standard Heckscher-Ohlin-Samuelson (HOS) model predicts that the integration of economies which differ in their initial endowments will provide gains for all countries involved, it also states that the relative price of the scarce factor in each country will fall until factor prices are eventually equalised. Increasing returns to scale create additional benefits from intraindustry trade, but leave the basic propositions from the HOS-model unchanged. Moreover, if factor prices do not adjust to an additional supply of labour, integration may involve unemployment and even a net loss in welfare. Since trade and factor movements are substitutes in the standard HOS-model, it does not matter whether the barriers to trade or obstacles to factor movements are lifted. Either trade or factor mobility, or both, contribute to the convergence of factor prices.

Needless to say, a number of caveats apply to the predictions of the HOS-model. First, neither the EU nor the Central and Eastern European (CEE) countries resemble the case of two previously autarkic economies which suddenly open up to bilateral trade flows as in the $2\times2\times2$ case (two countries, two goods, two factors) of basic trade models. In already open economies such as the present EU Members, only a large volume of trade and factor flows can have a significant impact on domestic labour markets, at least at aggregate levels. Second, even if the CEE countries were not 'too small to matter', transport and transaction costs could prevent trade and factor flows from reaching levels required to affect wages or employment in the present EU. Third, differences in technologies and factor intensities

between the EU and the CEE countries may mitigate or reverse the implications of the standard models of trade and factor mobility. Thus, factor price equalisation is just an extreme outcome within a broad range of possible consequences of eastern enlargement. An in-depth empirical analysis of the size and structure of trade, capital flows and labour migration is needed in order to assess the impact of eastern enlargement on domestic labour markets of the present EU Members.

The remainder of this paper summarises the key findings of a recent study¹ on the likely impact of eastern enlargement on employment and wages in the present EU Member States.² As the levels and the dynamics of wage and income differentials play a crucial role in this context, the paper starts by assessing the differences in factor endowments and the likely speed of convergence of the CEE countries to EU income levels. Then the analysis focuses on three main channels, along which enlargement may affect labour markets in the present EU countries, namely i) trade in goods and services, ii) movement of capital, and iii) migration of labour.

2. DIFFERENCES IN FACTOR ENDOWMENTS AND THE LIKELY SPEED OF CONVERGENCE

The economic conditions at the outset of eastern enlargement are characterised by a distinct gap in per capita incomes between the present EU Members and the accession candidates, which can be traced back to differences in factor endowments, technologies and institutions. Per capita GDP levels at current exchange rates, which may serve as a proxy for the productivity of the tradable sectors, amounted in the ten CEE countries to around onetenth of the respective levels of the present EU countries in 1998. Per capita GDP levels at purchasing power parities, which are a proxy for differences in real living standards, are estimated by the World Bank at around one-third, and by Eurostat at around two-fifths of those in the present EU. This gap in per capita income levels is considerably wider than in past accession rounds. However, the variance of income levels across individual CEE countries is large: According to the World Bank estimates, per capita GNP levels at current exchange rates vary between 5 per cent and 40 per cent, and at purchasing power parities between 20 per cent and 60 per cent, of respective figures in the present EU (Table 1). Moreover, in the regions of CEE countries immediately bordering to the EU, wage levels vary between 20 and 60 per cent of those prevailing on the other side of the border (Figure 1).

¹ Tito Boeri/Herbert Brücker et al.: The Impact of Eastern Enlargement on Employment and Labour Markets in the EU Member States, DIW, CEPR, FIEF, IGIER, IHS, Berlin and Milano 2001, http://www.diw/studien/english.

 $^{^2}$ This paper draws on an article by the author and Tito Boeri which is published in *World Economics, vol*. 2 (1), 2001, pp. 49-68.

 Table 1: Selected Indicators on Income Levels and Factor Prices in the CEE-10 and the EU-15

 1998

	GNP pe	er capita ¹⁾	PPP-C cap	PPP-GNP per capita ²⁾		gross wages and salaries ⁴⁾		
	in USD	in % of EU-15	in USD	in % of EU-15	in EURO	in % of EU-15		
Bulgaria	1.200	6	4.304 ³⁾	21	0.63	6	5.50	
Czech Republic	5 047	23	9 545 ³⁾	47	1 94	18	-	
Estonia	3.300	15	5,736 ³⁾	28	1.57	14	7.68	
Hungary	4.400	20	8.085 ³⁾	40	1.69	15	4.11	
Latvia	2 288	11	5 346 ³⁾	26	1 09	10	-	
Lithuania	2 581	12	4 803	24	1 44	13	5.06	
Poland	3,500	16	6 740	33	1.90	17	5.07	
Romania	1.546	7	3.970	20	0.97	9	-	
Slovak Republic	3.624	17	8,566 ³⁾	42	1.52	14	7.96	
Slovenia	9,037	42	12,833 ³⁾	64	5.09	46	6.12	
CEE-10 countries	3,186	15	6,435	32	1.61	15	-	
Austria			22 740	113	11 24	102	8 73	
Belgium			23,480	116	12.74	115	8.18	
Denmark			23.830	118	17.32	157	7.99	
Finland			20.270	100	11.87	107	4.15	
France			22,320	111	11.11	101	5.66	
Germany			20,810	103	16.71	151	10.00	
Greece			13,010	64	5.62	51	2.20	
Ireland			18,340	91	10.76	97	2.08	
Italy			20,200	100	8.26	75	12.08	
Luxembourg			37,420	185	14.72	133	8.18	
Netherlands			21,620	107	12.12	110	6.16	
Portugal			14,380	71	4.28	39	7.86	
Spain			16,060	80	7.91	72	6.96	
Sweden			19,480	97	16.00	145	5.51	
United Kingdom			20,640	102	11.80	107	8.31	
EU-15	21,617	100	20,176	100	11.05	100	-	

1) GDP per capita at current exchange rates. - 2) PPP-GNP by the World Bank in 1998; some figures are extrapolated with the real growth rate per capita. - 3) Extrapolated from 1997 estimate by real GDP growth per capita. - 4) Gross wages and salaries excl. indirect labour costs. Note that the comparision is affected by national differences in methodology. CEE-10 countries: Gross monthly wages and salaries divided by working hours per month. EU-15: Extrapolation of 1995 figures by nominal wage index. - 5) Incremental Capital Output Ratio (ICOR): Low values of the ICOR are an indication for a high marginal productivity of the capital stock and vice versa. Note that the ICOR can only be calculated for positive growth rates of the GDP.

Sources : World Development Indicators, CD-Rom, Washington, D.C. 2000, IMF: International Financial Statistics, various editions, Washington, D.C. 2000; EUROSTAT, national statistical offices, authors' calculations.

Such marked income gaps correspond to a distinct difference in endowments with physical and human capital. The book-values of physical capital stocks in the CEE countries are reported at around one-tenth of the EU average. Rather low values of the Incremental Capital Output Ratio (ICOR) in the CEE countries indicate that the marginal productivity of real investments in the CEE countries is high relative to that of the present EU countries (Table 1).



Figure 1: Wages in selected Eastern border regions in % of Western border regions,1998

Sources: National statistical offices, authors' calculations.

Human capital endowments, measured by formal indicators such as school enrolment rates and average years of schooling, are significantly below those of most EU Members, too. Moreover, the quality of education does not quite reach EU standards (Boeri, 2000).

Although the CEE countries are 'small' in terms of output and capital stocks, their labour force is not. It accounts for almost one-third of the labour force in the present EU and is relatively cheap: average wage levels reach only 15% (at current exchange rates) or one-fourth (at purchasing power parities) of EU levels.

The reported differences in factor endowments cannot, by themselves, account for the huge income gap between the Western and Eastern Europe. Total factor productivity is substantially lower in the CEE countries than in the EU. This can be traced back to various factors, in particular to differences in technologies and institutions. A more efficient use of the resources already available in the CEE countries therefore has the potential to reduce the income gap significantly.

Enlargement policies of the present EU are based on the crucial assumption that per capita GDPs in the CEE countries will converge to those prevailing in the present Member States. Growth theory does not provide unequivocal answers to the question whether per capita income levels in 'poor' economies tend to converge to those of rich ones. Historical experience among European market economies suggests that convergence may indeed occur, but only over a long time span. Per capita income levels within the current EU

Members as well as those of the other European market economies have converged slowly throughout the post-war period.³ If we apply the same rate of convergence among the present EU Members and the other European market economies to the CEE countries, the half-life of the income gap of the CEE countries vis-à-vis the EU is longer than 30 years. It should be noted that growth rates recently observed in the CEE countries following the trough of the so-called "transitional recession" are generally in line with those of the post-war experience.

Nevertheless, we should not expect that the speed of convergence will be uniform in all transition countries. Differences in institutions, economic policies and initial endowments with human capital will affect the speed of convergence. Reallocating public expenditures away from the salaries of public servants and towards public investment, and allocating social spending in such a way that more weight is placed on policies that ease the reallocation of workers are approaches that could increase the speed of convergence by up to 10 per cent. Improvements in institutional quality and an increase in primary and secondary education enrolment rates are also likely to foster growth in the CEE countries (Boeri/Brücker et al., 2001, Part B).

Moreover, eastern enlargement is likely to speed up the convergence of per capita incomes by itself. Estimates based on computable general equilibrium models predict that eastern enlargement will raise per capita GNP levels in the candidate countries by 1.5 per cent under conservative assumptions, and by around 19 per cent if we take into account the impact of EU membership on risk premiums and capital accumulation (Baldwin, Francois and Portes, 1997). Nevertheless, any realistic policy scenario has to acknowledge that large differences in factor endowments and incomes between the current EU Members and the accession candidates will persist for decades rather than simply for years.

3. WILL THE REMOVAL OF TRADE BARRIERS FOSTER IMPORTS OF CHEAP LABOUR?

Most trade restrictions between the EU and the ten candidate countries of Central and Eastern Europe (the CEE-10) have already been dismantled. Thus a rather strong degree of trade integration has already been attained: exports from EU countries to the CEE-10 have grown by a factor of 6.5 from 1988 to 1998, and imports from the CEE-10 to the EU by a factor of 4.5 at the same time. Enlargement involves the integration of the CEE-10 into the Common Agricultural Policy (CAP) of the EU, the harmonisation of product quality standards and liability rules, and the removal of the remaining trade barriers which are confined to the service sector and agriculture.

³ We applied different measures of convergence to a sample of the present EU countries and a broader sample of European market economies, e.g. the development of the variance of per capita GDP levels over time, unit-root tests, and Barro-type regressions of growth rates against initial income levels. All tests suggest that GDP levels have in fact converged over time in both country samples, but we observed a high variance in the speed of convergence across countries, too (cf. Boeri/Brücker et al., 2001, pp. 146-152.

Standard trade theory predicts that free trade between economies with large differences in factor endowments has the potential to generate large benefits in terms of income and consumer surplus at the aggregate level, but that the gains and losses are unevenly distributed among the various factors of production. In particular, stronger trade integration of the CEE-10 into the EU markets for goods and services could affect wages and employment by increasing imports of labour-intensive goods and exports of (physical and human) capital-intensive goods, which would in turn increase the relative price of physical and human capital, and decrease the wages of unskilled workers.

The composition of trade flows between the EU and the CEE-10 is broadly in line with the predictions of these models. EU exports to the CEE-10 are concentrated in goods with a relatively high content of physical capital and requiring highly-skilled labour, while imports from the candidate countries are based on (unskilled) labour-intensive techniques. The import penetration of the CEE-10 in the EU markets is stronger in sectors like clothing and footwear, while the EU experiences a large trade-surplus vis-à-vis the CEE-10 in physical and human capital-intensive industries such as communication equipment, computers and motor vehicles. Nevertheless, inter-sectoral differences in trade flows are less marked than could be expected due to the large differences in factor endowments, and they tend to decline significantly over time. However, persistently large differences in unit-values between the EU and the CEE-10 indicate that intra-industry trade is mainly of the vertical type (that is, involving goods of a different quality produced within the same industry). Thus, we observe a substitution of inter-industrial differences in the factor content of traded goods by intra-industrial differences.

Altogether, actual trade patterns between the EU and the CEE-10 would seem to imply a convergence in factor prices. However, there are at least two good reasons to believe that further trade integration will not, by itself, significantly affect relative wages and employment even in the EU countries most involved in trade with the CEE-10:

- 1. Actual and projected trade volumes are just too small to affect prices in open economies. In order to affect relative wages in open economies, the CEE-10 must become the suppliers for any additional demand of labour-intensive goods. This is not likely to happen in view of the (economic) scale of the CEE-10 and the EU. Both EU-exports to the CEE-10 and EU-imports from the accession candidate account for, at most, 1 per cent of the GDP of the European Union. In no country of the EU do exports and imports to and from these countries exceed 4 per cent of GDP. Empirical analyses of the impact of trade on wages, employment and labour mobility based on micro data in some of the EU countries most closely integrated with the CEE-10 (i.e. Austria, Germany and Sweden) are consistent with this view. Wage and employment effects of further trade integration are bound to be negligible.
- 2. The large gap in unit-values indicates that the CEE-10 are not specialised in the same quality segments of markets as are producers in the EU. Under these circumstances, trade theory suggests that all factors of production should benefit from trade, leaving relative wages of skilled and unskilled workers unaffected.

All this does not rule out the possibility of wage and employment losses involving unskilled workers in well-defined sectors and regions. Although the magnitudes are small, trade flows are likely to be concentrated in specific EU areas because of transport costs. In addition, due to the low mobility of workers in the EU, these regionally concentrated trade flows may locally harm the position of unskilled workers. Three quarters of trade between the EU and the CEE-10 is indeed concentrated in the EU countries immediately bordering the accession candidate, that is, Austria, Germany, Greece, Italy and Finland (Figure 2). Moreover, within these countries, trade turnover is concentrated in the border regions. If an impact of trade on wages and employment will be felt at all in the EU, this will occur precisely in these regions.



Figure 2: EU-15 Exports to and Imports from the CEE-10 in % of GDP 1998

Sources: OECD, Direction of Trade Statistics, authors' calculations.

While many concerns related to the effects of trade on wages of unskilled workers appear to be ill-founded, many optimistic views as to the job generation potential of accession are likewise lacking an empirical support. It is often argued that the large surplus in EU-trade with the CEE-10 is a job-generating machine. No doubt, the combined trade-surplus is sizeable (of the order of \$ 25 billion in 1998) and has steadily increased since the fall of the Berlin wall. The other side of the coin of these trade surpluses is a deficit in the capital balance, as income is transferred from the EU to the CEE-10 in order to finance their trade deficits. Increasing capital transfers to the CEE-10 associated with enlargement are likely to result in even larger trade surpluses. We estimate that the compounded deficit in the trade balance of the CEE-10 may double in the course of accession.

It is difficult to establish whether trade in manufacturing goods between the EU and the CEE-10 will significantly increase in the course of accession. Estimates based on gravity models, which explain trade flows in terms of geographical distance, population size and GDP levels at current exchange rates, suggest that actual trade flows between the EU and the CEE-10 have already reached their potential, as they exceed 'normal' volumes registered between market economies with similar characteristics (Brenton/Mauro, 1998). However, trade between the EU and the CEE-10 is still growing at double-digit rates, and there is considerable uncertainty as to the measurement of value added in transitional economies, as predictions of gravity models are very sensitive to revisions of GDP series. Schumacher (1999) shows that if one uses GDP at purchasing power parities rather than at current exchange rates in gravity models, actual EU exports to the CEE-10 in 1998 were only at about 50 per cent of 'normal' export volumes among market economies, and imports were at 40 per cent of their potential.

An unambiguous prediction of our study is that trade in services will increase as a result of the dismantling of the remaining barriers to trade in this field. This may have a significant effect on the supply of non-tradable goods in countries and regions bordering the CEE-10, notably in the construction and transport sectors. However, it is worth noting that present levels of service trade are low, and hence they will only rise to proportions which are unlikely to affect wages and employment at the aggregate level.

Overall, the impact of trade on employment and wages is likely to be confined to the EU countries geographically closest to the CEE-10, and to be, in any event, concentrated in the bordering regions of these countries. Although the benefits from trade integration – in terms of increased consumers' surplus – will be significant, there will be some losers in these bordering regions, notably among the unskilled workers operating in the sectors which have so far been sheltered from the competition of low-cost labour from the CEE-10, e.g., construction, transport and textiles.

4. WILL CAPITAL MARKET LIBERALISATION AFFECT THE EXPORT OF JOBS TO THE EAST?

The barriers to foreign direct investment and other capital movements have been largely removed. However, certain shortcomings in the regulation and supervision of capital markets and the banking systems are still present. From the perspective of the present EU Members, capital flows to CEE countries are, in any event, "too small to matter": yearly capital flows currently account for barely 0.2 per cent of the EU GDP and 0.8 per cent of gross fixed investment in the EU. Even a significant increase in capital flows from such low levels can hardly have any impact on interest rates and factor incomes in the EU. FDIs originating in the EU are, however, large for the CEE-10 (in 1998 they accounted for 7 per cent of their GDP and more than 25 per cent of their gross fixed investment), and hence an increase in FDIs may significantly contribute to capital formation, growth, and increasing wages in the candidates to accession.

Foreign capital flows to the CEE-10 mainly take the form of foreign direct investments. Portfolio capital inflows are well below those observed in other countries at comparable income levels. This suggests that equity and security markets of the CEE-10 are still at their infant stage. We expect the portfolio capital flows to pick up significantly as the harmonisation of the regulation of financial markets gains momentum. We also estimate FDIs to the CEE-10 to double in the wake of accession. Experience from past enlargement episodes suggests that accession to the EU can considerably increase capital inflows: this happened especially in Spain and Portugal in the aftermath of the southern enlargement of the EU. Furthermore, our projections for the trade potentials imply that capital flows to the CEE-10 fall short of their potential as trade and current account deficits are usually matched by capital inflows. Such an increase in capital movements from the EU to the CEE-10 may contribute significantly to growth in the CEE-10, hence to income convergence.

There are widespread concerns in the EU that labour-intensive production will relocate from the EU to the CEE-10 as a result of enlargement. However, a detailed analysis of the structure of FDIs does not provide support to these views. Nearly half of the FDIs originating from the EU are directed at non-tradable sectors in the CEE-10 (mainly public utilities and communication, as well as financial services). The branch structure of investment, as well as enterprise surveys, indicate that market access is the primary reason for the investment. Only about one-fifth of foreign investment is allocated to industries where low labour costs play a significant role and where the share of unskilled labour is relatively high⁴.

Overall, only a minor fraction of FDI is driven by low-wage costs in the CEE-10 and hence may displace production and employment in the EU. FDIs are mainly induced by market access considerations: this means that they are either neutral for employment and wages in the EU or are complementary to trade, thereby exerting a positive effect on employment and wages in the enterprises and branches involved. The small fraction of FDIs induced by low labour costs is associated with a specialisation of production in human capital-intensive processes in the EU and labour intensive activities in the accession candidates. This structure of FDIs may actually hurt wages and employment of unskilled workers in specific enterprises and branches, such as clothing, footwear, electrical machinery, rubber and plastic products. However, in these branches large trade surpluses vis-à-vis the CEE-10 can be observed, which suggests that the undesirable effects of FDIs on wages and employment of unskilled workers may be offset by increasing exports to the CEE-10.

⁴ In particular, in clothing and footwear, electrical machinery, rubber and plastic products, parent companies would seem to focus on significantly more capital-intensive activities than their foreign affiliates.

5. WILL EU LABOUR MARKETS BE SWAMPED BY MIGRANTS FROM THE EAST?

Ten years after the start of economic transition in Eastern Europe, immigration from the CEE-10 is still heavily restricted by the EU Members. The authority of individual EU Members to regulate the immigration of labour and persons from the CEE-10 is also not impaired by the Europe Agreements (EAs). The removal of the barriers to free labour mobility is therefore the single dimension of economic integration that is likely to be affected most by the eastern enlargement of the EU.

The evidence presented above does not suggest that trade and capital movements can lead to an equalisation of factor prices. Insofar as large wage and income gaps between the CEE-10 and the EU are likely to persist for decades, strong economic incentives to migration are bound to be present well beyond the date of accession. This holds true particularly for the richest regions of the EU which border the CEE-10, such as the Bavarian border with the Czech Republic and the Austrian borders with Slovakia, Hungary and the Czech Republic. However, international migration is hindered by high transaction costs and by the limited absorption capacity of labour markets in the countries of destination.

Present stocks of employees and residents from the CEE-10 in the EU clearly reflect the restrictions to labour mobility and are, in view of the large gap in per capita incomes, rather negligible. The stock of foreign residents who have immigrated from the CEE-10 to the EU is estimated at some 870,000 individuals in 1999, while the stock of foreign employees amounts to about 300,000 workers at the same time. The latter figure includes the full-time equivalent of temporary and seasonal workers. Such figures account for barely 0.2 per cent of the EU population and 0.3 per cent of the EU workforce, respectively. Around 80 per cent of the migrants from the CEE-10 reside in Austria and Germany (Figure 3). However, the official statistics do not cover illegal migration or workers who are employed by foreign companies supplying services in the present EU countries.



Figure 3: Nationals from the CEE-10 in employment of the EU-15 Members

Our estimates of the migration potential associated with the eastern enlargement draw from a time series model of immigration to Germany in the period 1967-98 which explicitly takes into account the formation of expectations. This model allows us to estimate the long-term equilibrium level of individuals and workers from the CEE-10 residing in the EU, as well as

the speed at which the adjustment to the potential takes place.⁵ The most important factors affecting the estimates of the migration potential are the differences in *per capita* incomes, and the employment rates both in the destination countries and in the countries of origin. Institutional restrictions to migration, variables capturing the presence in the host country of ethnic minorities originating from the CEE-10 and the possibility to use a common language as well as indicators for the standard of living, were also found to affect migration significantly. Interestingly enough, our estimates suggest that the propensity to migrate decreases with the number of those who have already emigrated from each accession candidate. Thus, network effects, e.g., associated with the presence in the EU of a core group of migrants originating from the same country, would seem to influence the distribution of migrates between the different EU countries, but not to encourage a persisting expansion of migration flows. However, the propensity to migrate differs largely between countries.

Sources: Eurostat Labour Force Survey, author's calculations.

⁵ For a description of the model and its underlying assumptions see Boeri/Brücker et al., 2001; Brücker (2001).

The above econometric results can be used to simulate potential migration from the CEE-10 into the EU under various scenarios of income convergence and unemployment. The simulations should only be seen as broad indications as to the likely magnitudes of future migration flows originating from the CEE-10 and are conditional on the assumptions being made as to the pace of income convergence to the EU levels and on labour market developments in the East and the West. Heterogeneity in the migration behaviour across countries, which is present in our data, makes out-of-sample difficult. As a consequence, a good deal of uncertainty still surrounds the results presented here – which holds for other predictions based on econometric studies as well.



Figure 4: Simulation : Foreign population in the EU-15 after introduction of free movement

Sources: Author's estimates and simulations. Note that in the high (low) projection, a convergence rate of 3% (1%), an unemployment rate of 10% (5%) in the country of destination, and an unemployment rate of 15% (5%) in the country of origin is assumed.

Our baseline simulations assume that per capita incomes between the EU and the CEE-10 will converge at a rate of 2% per annum – which is consistent with the speed of income convergence in post-war Europe – and that the unemployment rates in the EU and the CEE-10 will remain constant. They suggest that the foreign population originating from the CEE-10 and residing in the EU may rise from about 0.85 to 3.9 million under the enlargement scenario. This corresponds to roughly 4% of the CEE-10 population and one per cent of the population of the EU-15. The peak in the size of the population of migrants is expected to be reached 30 years after the liberalisation of labour movements. Net migration inflows in the EU are bound to increase immediately reaching a maximum of about 335,000 individuals per

annum, and subsequently decline to a more modest 100,000 to 150,000 people per annum. Different assumptions as to the speed of convergence as well as the unemployment rates prevailing in the countries of destination and origin yield long-run stocks of foreign residents from the CEE-10 in the EU-15 ranging from 2.9 to 4.5 million (Figure 4).

Thus, according to our simulations, migration flows stimulated by the accession will neither be negligible – as was the case at the time of the accession of the Southern EU Members – nor as large as often feared in the EU. The stock of foreign residents from the Southern EU Members had already reached its equilibrium level when free movement was introduced, according to our estimates. This will hardly be the case when the CEE-10 enters the EU. Moreover, many speculations depicting Western Europe as being swamped by masses of migrants originating from the CEE-10 ignore the fact that migration is hindered by high transaction costs and do not factor in the limited absorption capacity of labour markets in the destination countries. Even in Germany during the 1960s, under full employment and publicly-sponsored efforts to attract guest workers from abroad, average net immigration from all countries did not exceed 240,000 persons per year. Notice that migration flows are expected to vary widely in the wake of the business cycle: according to our simulations, net migration flows from the CEE countries into Germany would have varied between 50 000 and 600 000 persons per annum if free movement have been introduced in 1990. Thus, an economic shock such as the Peso-crisis in Mexico in the 1990s, can involve a substantial increase in annual migration rates.

Migration flows will not be evenly distributed across the EU. Germany and Austria currently attract about 80% of the migrants originating from the CEE-10. If this geographical concentration of migration flows does not change, Germany and Austria should be expected to receive 220,000 and 40,000 people per year, respectively, after free labour mobility is introduced. As in the case of trade flows, migration flows are also concentrated in the Austrian and German regions bordering the CEE-10, with the notable exception of the former GDR. At the borders of Eastern Germany with Poland and the Czech Republic, migration shares are at one-third of the German average, a factor which can be attributed to the lower income levels and higher unemployment rates registered in the eastern *Länder*.

Contrary to conventional wisdom, economic theory predicts that migration enhances aggregate welfare of natives in the host countries, while natives in the home countries lose out. This can be traced back to fact that wages of intra-marginal migrants are below their contributions to GDP. However, the gains and losses are not distributed equally across the factors of production: while factors complementary to migrant labour are supposed to gain from migration, factors which can be substituted by immigrant labour may lose out. In particular, it is feared that unskilled labour may be affected by migration in terms of wages and employment in host countries. The findings of this report, as well as the findings of a number of other studies, suggest that undesirable effects of migration are concentrated on blue-collar workers in manufacturing industries and on unskilled labour in services. Nevertheless, the impact of migration on the labour market performance of natives is much smaller than widely believed. The reason is that migrants move into prosperous branches and regions and that furthermore output and investment adjust according to the increase in the labour supply. Our estimates found that a one percentage point increase in the migrant

share in a given branch decreases average wages there by 0.25 per cent in the Austrian regressions and 0.6 per cent in the German ones (Boeri/Brücker et al., 2001). At the same time, the individual risk of dismissal increases by 0.8 percentage points in the Austrian and by 0.2 percentage points in the German sample. The impact of migration on white collar workers is slightly positive or neutral. Thus, since the increase in the share of foreigners from the CEE countries is expected to last for rather long time periods, the impact of migration on wages and employment is likely to be rather moderate even in the two most affected countries, Austria and Germany.

Moreover, the impact of migration might be more dispersed across skill groups in the case of immigration from CEE than it is in the case of traditional immigration. Formal education levels of migrants from CEE are surprisingly high. Nevertheless, the branch structure of employment shows that nationals from CEE are employed in the same branches as other foreigners and probably at the same qualification levels. Furthermore, additional information on the labour market performance of ethnic Germans who have immigrated from CEE suggests that the returns on human capital attained are extremely low even when migrants possess good language skills. Although immigrants from CEE currently compete with blue-collar workers and unskilled workers for jobs in the manufacturing and construction sectors, they may over time become more able to adapt to the skill profile of EU labour market demands, and hence increasingly compete with highly-skilled workers.

6. CONCLUSIONS

Trade and FDI flows associated with the eastern enlargement of the EU are unlikely to significantly affect wages and employment in the current Members of the EU. Some wage and job displacement effects of the accession may only be felt at a sub-national scale, involving unskilled workers, employed in specific industries (mainly in services, construction and transport) and resident in the relatively rich regions of the EU borders with the CEE-10 (Austria and Bavaria). In these respects, trade and FDIs, CEECs are just "too small to matter" for the current EU Members.

Migration associated with the liberalisation of labour movements from the CEE-10 will certainly be more sizeable, as income gaps between the EU and the candidate countries are large and bound to persist for decades. However, history tells us that it takes a long time before migration stocks adjust to income differentials. Even under prudent assumptions about the pace of income convergence, we expect an annual increase in the number of foreign residents from the CEE-10 of around 220,000 persons for Germany and of 40,000 persons for Austria after lifting the barriers to labour migration. Such flows will decline over time: net flows will be halved within a decade. The long-term migration stock is expected to be at around 2.5 million residents in Germany and at around 470,000 residents in Austria, respectively. The above estimates assume a complete lack of migration restrictions, that is, the free movement of labour from the CEE-10. About one-third of the foreign residents from the CEE-10 are expected to be employees.

Although we are dealing with relatively small numbers, they may not look that small to

populations of neighbouring regions who fear a concentration of migrants where they live, and consequent risks of wage losses and job displacement for the unskilled. Almost 80% of the migrants from the CEE countries in the EU reside in Austria and Germany, and – with the notable exception of Eastern Germany – they are concentrated in the eastern regions. Educational attainments of eastern migrants are often relatively high, but newcomers typically compete with residents for less-skilled jobs. While in tradable sectors output adjusts to an increasing supply of labour, competition of migrants from the East may bite into non-tradable sectors such as construction, hotels, restaurants or household services. Thus, Austria and Germany will be the main winners from the free movement of labour, but nevertheless, we cannot totally dismiss all concerns about undesirable effects on local labour markets in these two countries.

Sound enlargement policies should not neglect these concerns or the uncertainty inevitably associated with any estimate of the migration potential. It may therefore be advisable to keep actual migration flows under control for a transitional period. The proposal of the European Commission and the German government to postpone the free movement for at least five years is however not appropriate to reduce uncertainty on potential migration and support the adjustment of labour markets. Simply postponing the free movement will not reduce the migration potential by large numbers under realistic assumptions on the convergence of per capita incomes. Moreover, the uncertainty about the actual migration potential is not reduced. In contrast to simply postponing the free movement, quotas or safeguard clauses have two advantages: firstly, the usage of quotas provides information on the actual migration potential and reduces therefore uncertainty on potential migration substantially.⁶ If quotas are not filled up, they can be lifted without risk of a mass immigration wave. Secondly, they reduce the migration potential step by step and allow therefore a smooth adjustment of labour markets.

The rationale for having some *temporary* restrictions to migration is to prevent the social tensions which could result in pressures for heavier, long-lasting migration restrictions. Immediate adoption of quotas or safeguard clauses would underpin the credibility of the EU's commitment to enlargement, as would a reform of labour market and social policy institutions in the EU in such a way as to promote, rather than oppose, internal labour mobility in the EU. This would also prevent a concentration of the undesirable effects of migration on specific regions, which, after all, is the only way that enlargement could possibly produce losers in the EU.

 $^{^{6}}$ However, the information provided by quotas or safeguard clauses on the migration potential depends crucially on their design. Applications for immigration under a quota regime can be biased in both directions, i.e. upward or downward. Nevertheless, quotas and safeguard clauses provide more information on potential migration than the present restrictions to migration from the East.

REFERENCES

BALDWIN, R.E., J. F. FRANCOIS and R. PORTES (1997), «The costs and benefits of Eastern enlargement: the impact on EU and central Europe», *Economic Policy*, 24, 127-176.

BARRO, R. (1991), «Economic growth in a cross-section of countries», *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 106, 2 (May), 407-43.

BOERI, T. (2000), «Structural Change, Welfare Systems, and Labour Reallocation: Lessons from the Transition of Formerly Planned Economies», Oxford University Press, Oxford.

BOERI, T. and H. BRÜCKER et AL (2001), «The Impact of Eastern Enlargement on Employment and Labour Markets in the EU Member States», DIW, CEPR, FIEF, IGIER, IHS, Berlin and Milano 2001, <u>http://www.diw.de/english/aktuelles/</u>.

BRENTON, P. and F. DIMAURO (1998), «Is there Any Potential in Trade in Sensitive Industrial Goods Between the CEECs and the EU? », *The World Economy*, 21, 3 (May), 285-304.

FISCHER, S., R. SAHAY, and C. VEGH (1998), «How far is Eastern Europe from Brussels», IMF Working Paper, WP/98/53.

LEVINE, R. and D. RENELT (1992), «A sensitivity analysis of cross-country growth regressions», *American Economic Review*, 82, 4 (September), 942-63.

SCHUMACHER, D. (1999), «Trade Of EU Countries With Central and Eastern European Association Countries: Potential Volume and Future Patterns Of Comparative Advantage, Background Report to The Impact of Eastern Enlargement on Employment and Labour Markets in the EU Member States», DIW, Berlin.

Pensions Reform between Economic and Political Problem¹

Florence Legros*

1. INTRODUCTION

Life expectancy and fertility rates are the key factors of ageing populations in the world. The likely evolutions of these factors suggest an inescapable rise in the share of elderly people in the overall population; this sharp increase in dependency ratios will have important impacts on public finances, potential output, etc., and overall, on the financial equilibrium of retirement pension schemes.

These forecasted difficulties have induced a lot of political reactions. Policymakers have realised for some time that deficits of the pay-as-you-go⁷ (PAYG) pensions schemes would quickly reach unsustainable levels, if no changes were introduced, whether in benefits or in contributions, so that reforms are often planned [OECD, 2000].

These reforms are of two types: parametric reforms within the PAYG system or reforms that are based on a partial or full shift towards funded schemes.

• Parametric reforms of PAYG include rather marginal adjustments; with an increase of the number of potential beneficiaries the solutions appear to be rather simple: to pay more, or to pay longer or to receive less. Increased contribution or decreased benefits, raise of the pensionable age with strong incentives to postpone retirement decisions have been the main figures of these adjustments. There were, also, more structural changes such as transformation to notional, defined-contribution accounts (Sweden, Italy, Poland, etc.) organised in order to strengthen the link between contributions and benefits;

¹ Thank my discussants Claus Hofmann and Jacques Lecacheux and the participants for useful comments. The usual disclaimer applies.

^{*} CEPII, e-mail: <u>legros@cepii.fr</u>

⁷ In a Pay as you go pension scheme, current wage earners pay for current retirees. In a funded scheme, contributions from the wage earners are saved, capitalised and kept until pensions are payed.

 Moving towards funded schemes include a mix of public and private components but also funded reserve elements within PAYG systems (France, Ireland, Spain, etc.), two reforms schemes that would induce transition costs in terms of over-contributions for current or future taxpayers.

Inevitable resistance emerged as soon as pension reforms were considered. First, segments of public opinion remain doubtful about the gravity of the pension problem itself, whether they do not believe in the demographic problem, whether they think the economic growth will solve the problem; in addition, for those that are aware of the problem, there are some conflicts over who bears the burden of the reforms, current taxpayers, current pensioners, futures generations etc.

In most countries, policymakers are in the middle of the debate, standing between public opinion and expert advice that would lead to "the good reform". The equation is all the more complicated due to economic environment. It has been shown that pension reform is not economically neutral and that its success depends upon the economic conditions: until now, the elderly workers had difficulties to find their place in the labour market, workers have strong aspirations for an early retirement, funding within the PAYG scheme is often based on additional public deficits, private funded schemes are considered as risky etc.

This paper is organised as follows: in the first section, a short summary of well known data presenting the forthcoming situations of pension schemes in OECDs' countries is given; in a second section, more elements about considered pension reforms is provided, more precisely some indications are given about the efficiency of such reforms; in a third part, the political economy of pension reform is considered using the French example of a pension scheme to point out some stumbling blocks.

2. OVERVIEW OF THE PENSION SCHEME SITUATIONS

Some elements of the pension debate are well known. First, ageing is a worldwide phenomenon (Table 1 shows that the problem will lies perhaps more heavy on the developing countries where the lack of capital is to be a sharp problem); in addition this phenomenon is rather irreversible: the view is now widely shared that below replacement fertility is only one factor of ageing, and not the most important one, most of the process being due to the greying of baby-boom cohorts and the general rise in life expectancy (Table 2).

(%)	1995	2005	2015	2025	2035
United States	16,5	17,2	21,5	26,4	28,2
Japan	20,0	25,3	30,7	32,0	34,7
Germany	20,6	24,8	27,8	33,7	36,8
France	19,5	20,5	24,8	28,4	30,7
Italy	22,0	25,1	28,7	33,5	38,5
United kingdom	20,6	21,4	24,5	28,3	30,6
Latin America	7,4	8,4	10,6	13,9	17,6
China	9,6	8,4	14,0	18,2	24,0
South Asia	6,8	10,6	8,6	10,8	13,7

Table 1: Share of population ages 60 and older

Source: World Bank

	Fertility rat	tes	Life (1	expectancy a men and wom	t birth en)
	1960	2000	1960-65	1995-2000	2045-50
United States	3.7	2.0	70.0	76.7	81.8
Japan	2.1	1.4	69.0	80.0	83.8
Germany	2.3	1.3	70.3	77.2	81.9
France	2.7	1.7	71.0	78.1	82.6
Italy	2.4	1.2	69.9	78.2	82.6
United kingdom	2.5	1.7	70.8	77.2	82.0
Canada	3.9	1.6	71.4	79.0	83.2

Table 2: Female fertility rates and life expectancy at birth

Source: OECD

These transformations of population structure will induce a dramatic rise in the dependency ratios in most countries (Table 3), and the old age expenditure is expected to increase at

least as fast as it has increased during the past years as shown by pension contribution rates (Table 4), given the old age dependency ratios and if no reforms are undertaken i.e. if there is no change in the dependency ratios nor in the replacement rates (Box 1). This means that, with the same macroeconomic replacement rate, if no reforms are introduced the contribution rates have to be doubled between now and 2050 to match the drift of the dependency ratios.

									(%)
		1960			2000			2050	
	- 15	15-64	65 +	- 15	15-64	65 +	- 15	15-64	65 +
United States	30.8	60.0	9.0	21.5	66.0	12.5	17.1	61.2	21.7
Japan	30.2	64.0	5.7	14.8	68.1	17.1	13.8	54.4	31.8
Germany	21.3	67.2	11.5	15.5	68.1	16.4	13.4	58.3	28.4
France	26.4	62.0	11.6	18.7	65.4	15.9	17.0	58.0	25.5
Italy	24.8	65.9	9.3	14.3	67.6	18.2	12.0	53.1	34.9
United kingdom	23.3	65.1	11.7	18.8	65.2	16.3	16.3	58.8	24.9
Canada	33.5	59.0	7.5	12.8	68.3	18.9	17.0	59.3	23.8

Table 3: Structure of populations

Source: OECD

Table 4: Pension contribution rates

		% of average earnings
	1967	1995
United States	7.1	12.4
Japan	5.5	16.5
Germany	14.0	18.6
France	8.5	19.8
Italy	15.8	29.6
United kingdom	6.5	13.9
Canada	5.9	5.4

3. **REFORMING PENSION SCHEMES**

A typology of pension reforms can be roughly provided:

- Parametric reforms are reforms within the PAYG pension scheme and retain a strong unfunded component;
- Others types of reforms involve a funded component; Disney [2000] denotes them as privatisation but this term is quite reductive because reforms that planned to fund part of the PAYG schemes also belong to this category.

Table 7 provides some directions of recent pension reforms in selected OECD countries.

Raising pensionable age, or linking it to expected longevity is generally a key policy in parametric reforms and is supposed to have an important impact as shown in a quick calculation: assuming a replacement rate of 70% and a full indexation of pensions upon wages, increasing the contribution period by one year from 40 years to 41 years and decreasing the retirement period from 25 to 24 years lowers the pension payments/wage bill ratio from 0.44 to 0.41 and offsets 1.5 years of supplementary life expectancy.

Box 1: PAYG pension schemes, equilibrium and definitions

Pay-as-you-go schemes pay pensions out of current contributions or taxes. Let:

t, be the current PAYG contribution rate;

 \overline{W} , the average wage of the contributing workers;

 N_t , the number of contributing workers at time t;

 \overline{p} , the average old age pension;

 N_{t-1} , the number of retirees (those that were active in period t-1).

For each period, the equilibrium of the PAYG scheme can be written as follows (for a PAYG scheme without a trust fund or reserve fund) since contributions (revenues) have to equalise pensions (payments):

$$\boldsymbol{t}.\overline{\boldsymbol{w}}.\boldsymbol{N}_{t} = \overline{p}.\boldsymbol{N}_{t-1} \qquad /1/$$

or:

$$\boldsymbol{t} = \frac{\overline{p}}{\overline{w}} \cdot \frac{N_{t-1}}{N_t} \qquad (1')$$

where $\frac{N_{t-1}}{N_t}$ is the **dependency rate**, ratio retirees to contributors;

and $\frac{p}{\overline{w}}$ is the macroeconomic **replacement rate**, ratio of average pension to the average

wage. Note that this replacement rate is a good index of the relative standard of living of retirees. This ratio differs from the usual replacement rate, which is the ratio of the first pension to the last wage and which is given by the scheme's characteristics. As shall be seen, it is not the only good index of a scheme's generosity.

As equation /1' states, the only way to get back to the equilibrium when the dependency ratio is rising is:

- Paying more: increasing **t**;
- Decreasing the scheme generosity: decreasing $\frac{\overline{p}}{\overline{w}}$;
- Paying longer by setting the dependency ratio at a lower level: decreasing $\frac{N_{t-1}}{N_t}$.

This is possible by increasing the pensionable age and has a important effect by rising the numerator while lowering the denominator.

These three types of reforms have been attempted to improve the resistance to demographic shocks of PAYG pension schemes (see below).

The return of PAYG schemes is given as follows:

From equation /1/ and taking into account the demographic change whose rate is n and the $\frac{N_{t}}{N_{t-1}} = 1 + n$

rate of productivity change, g:

$$\Leftrightarrow p_t = (1+n)(1+g)\boldsymbol{t}_t.\overline{\boldsymbol{w}}_{t-1}$$
$$\Leftrightarrow p_t \approx (1+n+g).\boldsymbol{t}_t.\overline{\boldsymbol{w}}_{t-1}$$

Productivity changes and demographic changes play the same role in the PAYG rate of return.

This yield has to be compared with funded schemes rate of return. This yield is generally given by the interest rate, normally supposed to be equal to the marginal rate of return on physical capital. Usually, in papers that deal with a comparison between funded schemes and unfunded schemes, the former are preferred to the latter if the interest rate exceeds the sum n+g (see Feldstein, 1973 for a seminal analysis).

The problem is that employment rates in the years prior to reaching state pensionable age are well below 100 % in most OECD countries (Table 5); people being in fact beneficiaries of unemployment or disability benefits or other forms of welfare support which have been developed in recent past years of high unemployment rates in order to replace old workers by youngest ones.

			% of	the populatio	n aged 55-64
	1980	1985	1990*	1995	1998
United States	53.8	51.8	54.0	55.1	57.7
Japan	61.3	60.5	62.9	63.7	63.8
Germany		37.1	39.2	37.8	38.8
France		37.2	35.6	33.5	33.0
Italy		33.3	32.0	27.0	26.9
United kingdom		47.0	49.2	47.6	48.3
Canada	51.5	47.2	47.0	43.6	45.4
		20			

Table 5: Employment rate of workers aged 55-64 in OECD countries

*refers to 1991; source: OECD.

Table 6 shows that in most countries (except in Italy) there are rather high incentives to continue working when old if we consider only implicit taxes embedded in old age pension benefits; more precisely there is no empirical evidence of a negative correlation between this implicit tax on continued work and the share of the population aged 55-64 that is still employed. It is necessary to consider the other welfare support programmes in order to understand the low participation rates of the elderly.

	Old age	Ole	us:	
	pensions	Unemployment benefits*	Disability benefits*	Special pre- retirement benefits*
United States	12			
Japan	28			
Germany	14	37	46	
France	14	49		57
Italy	79			
United kingdom	5	15		
Canada	6			

 Table 6: Implicit tax rates on continued work embedded in benefits for the elderly; 1995

*".." denote that the couple (old age pension, xx) is not an option *Source:* Blöndal and Scarpetta [1999]

Most of the parametric reforms do not take into account the fact that what is treated as parameter is behaviour; in this sense, such parametric reform that only lengthens the working period necessary to obtain a pension will have lower benefits than estimated.

	Pensionable age	Promoting longer employment	Changed benefit rate	Required contribution period	Contribution rate	Convergence of schemes	Greater reliance on funded schemes	Promoting private schemes	Others
United States		Increase (M, W)				Legislative requirement for non – discriminatory within a working place	DC scheme is tax- favoured for corporate pension	Tax concessions	Pension trust fund.
Japan	Increase (W and M) Partial pension introduced		1994: net income indexation		1994: contribution on bonuses	Private pension is promote schemes, etc.	d, including discussion fo	or introduction of DC	
Germany	Increase (W)		1992: Net income indexation 1997: decrease of the target replacement rate				 Corporate scheme legislation dating recent reforms; Wanted to furth schemes 	s are promoted with back to 1974 and her expand private	Attempted to share the burden of ageing equally between pensioners and contributors
France			1993: base period for benefit calculation: 10>25 years	1993: 37.5 > 40 years					
Italy	Increase (W and M with 5 years difference) 1995: flexible (57- 65) with no pre- retirement	Yes	Reduction of benefits	Increase for seniority pension and old age pension	Increase	1995: greater equity for workers in different industries	1995: complementary funded scheme, DC scheme.	Yes	Survivors pension now means tested.
United Kingdom	Yes (W)	1986: flexible retirement age to 70	1986: Reduction of value of pension (SERPS)				Contracting out permissed	Tax concessions; Intro. of personal pensions; 1995: regulation of private schemes	
Canada		1987: flexible retirement age to 70	1997: Reduction of some benefits related to disability		1997: to 9.9% in 2003 and held steady	1996: New basic pension with means test, by 2001	1997: increase of the funded portion	Tax concessions	1997: more aggressive investment policy with pension reserves

Table 7: Directions of recent pension reforms for selected countries in OECD

Source: OECD

Another strategy to postpone retirement age and/or to avoid adverse behaviour is the explicit linkage of benefits and contributions. In such a strategy, the board of pension schemes calculates a sustainable implicit rate of return on the contributions of each cohort and then sets the accrual rate of the pension. This kind of reform lies behind the "actuarially fair" basis. These reforms have to include substantial computational modifications of pensions, taking into account the full lifetime basis for calculating pension entitlements rather than a final salary. The logical extreme of this strategy is the creation of "notional accounts" in which each individual pension is supposed to be explicitly based on a history of contributions. Once at retirement age, the pensioner transforms his accumulation of points towards pension liabilities according to a transformation rate linked to changes in demography; post-retirement indexation arrangements are also linked to these changes.

Recent Latvian and Swedish reforms have introduced notional accounts; the French system introduced such mechanisms for its complementary schemes, which have been compulsory since 1972.

Two difficulties have to be pointed out:

- First, actuarial fairness means that the actual balance of any modification in the retirement age, chosen by the wage-earner, does not impact on the pension scheme equilibrium. As a result, as soon as the implicit yield is positive, the liabilities continue to grow;
- Second, if the wage-earners have larger freedom to anticipate their retirement, they effectively quit earlier as soon as their preference for leisure is higher than the implicit yield of the retirement pension scheme (Artus, 2000a, Blanchet and Mahieu, 2001). This will not damage the financial equilibrium of the pension scheme but will induce great difficulties in increasing the pensionable age.

This means that the political will to adjust the working (and accumulation) period has to be accompanied by a visible counterpart that will encourage people to contribute more to such programmes.

One of the main difficulties of these schemes (national accounts or others) is that their returns can automatically be compared by participants with the returns to be obtained in marketed private saving accounts. This reform is one of the alternatives to replace all or part of an unfunded pension programme.

Funding the pension schemes is another means of reform (that is implicitly encouraged by the decrease of pension schemes generosity). Two forms have been explored. The first one is to shift from PAYG to private saving accounts; the second one is to create a reserve fund (or a trust fund) within the PAYG pension scheme.

Since Aaron and Shoven [1999] showed that the shift from PAYG to a funded scheme is neutral⁸, the only good argument lies in the superiority of yields of the saving accounts to increase the households' welfare. But does this argument of higher yields really hold?

One of the main arguments is that funded schemes are intrinsically better insulated from demographic risks than PAYG schemes. Artus [1999], on the contrary, argues that the demographic cycle that will begin in 2005-2010 will paradoxically favour the PAYG schemes, especially if these funded schemes are invested in fixed income assets. The analysis is that the active population has been large in past years, which have also involved high rates of unemployment, low levels of wages, low levels of consumption and weakness of the economic growth in Europe and Asia where the saving rates – pushed up by the increasing life expectancy and the uncertainty facing PAYG schemes – are great, relative to investment rates. While the numerous generation of baby-boomers will be retirees and when active population will slow down or decrease after 2005-2010, wages will rise, consumption will be more dynamic and inflation higher. In addition current cohorts of numerous baby-boomers who bought expensive assets will have difficulties to sell them back to the following, less numerous generation. High wages, low yields and higher inflation rates will create a gap between PAYG and funded schemes. This gap cannot be reduced in the long run by exporting saving flow surpluses, because the emerging countries are ageing as well [Holzmann, 2000 and Table 1].

Empirical evidence of this phenomenon is given by the following chart (Chart 1) where the correlation between the prime saver ratio and the share index can be observed.

The switch towards a funded scheme is not sufficient to limit the problem of financing retirement pension schemes: the problem of the transition is not solvable and funded schemes do not provide any immunisation against such demographic changes when a numerous cohort is followed by a smaller generation.

In order to smooth intergenerational consumption, some policy makers have created trust funds (United States), provident funds (Singapore) or reserve funds (France). Whatever the name of these funds, they are generally run by governments, mobilise various forms of resources such as public assets, additional contributions, pension schemes surpluses, etc.

⁸ Such a shift will have no impact on disposable income and wealth of individuals who move from the old system to the new. The government will run an increased deficit, but this will be exactly offset by the increase of private savings from the surplus of the new pension plans. The national saving rate will not increase. The reform only converts an implicit government obligation to future retirees into explicit debt. Pestieau and Possen (1997) show that this conclusion holds under 3 assumptions:

i. the transition generation is compensated by public borrowing,

ii. the benefit rule is unchanged,

iii. individuals' portfolio choices are not constrained.



Chart 1: Primary savers ratio (age group 40-49), 1950-2000, and share indexes - USA

The main criticism of these funds is the evidence that they do not avoid intergenerational incidence [Kotlikoff, 1992] for Ricardian equivalence reasons. On the other hand, if there are households kept away from the equity market (because of heavy entry fees, for instance), investing part of their contribution in the equity market through the trust fund can be Pareto improving. In the same time, households that find that their social security benefits suddenly became too risky will reallocate their portfolio so as to keep risk and yields patterns constant (according to Modigliani and Miller).

To sum up, these trust funds can provide a good tool to smooth the contribution rates and the consumption across generations but as in the others systems, if both taxes and the retirement age are kept constant there is no room for such a fund, as there is no room for other measures than adjustments of the replacement ratio to meet demographic changes. It is obvious that such adjustments will induce a dramatic impoverishment of the elderly.

That said, it is also obvious that the choices are political choices because it is unlikely that social security reforms will be Pareto-improving measures.

4. POLITICAL ECONOMY CONSIDERATIONS

This point of view has been produced by some economists (notably by Cremer and Pestieau, 2000, or Barr, 2000). For the latter, the difference between PAYG and funding is second order, which does not mean that reforming pension is not useful. Particularly, pension schemes have to be designed with labour incentives (which are not avoided by funded schemes that often do not allow for labour mobility), in order to postpone the retirement age with relation to demographic prospects, or their generosity has to be reduced in order to limit payroll taxes if economic growth demands it.

If many reforms have yet to be introduced to affect pensions, it is likely that they may not be sufficient to face the future demographic challenge. The problem is, then, the future of our pension schemes. With no more reforms, the rate of return of the PAYG based pensions will decrease (Table 7 for the French case), but a lot of persons remain opposed to such reforms.

Browning's seminal paper [1975] about the political economy of social insurance, some models have dealt with the problem of resistance against reforms in the field of social security (for a survey of these models, see Casamatta [1999]). The standard result is that if models focus on majority voting, it implies a level of social security in excess of that which maximises lifetime welfare, since the median voter belongs to the oldest members of the working population. Casamatta *et al.* [1999, 2000] have found the same result with different classes of voters differing in productivity and wages.

In this case, the level of PAYG pensions is higher than optimal and, in case of an unexpected demographic shock, the transition relies totally on one generation. This is because the median voter himself finds saving schemes more attractive if the equilibrium rate of contributions become too high. In this exercise, the authors adopt the hypothesis that the economy is characterised by a return on physical capital *i* which is higher than the rate of return of PAYG, i.e. the sum of the population growth rate and real wage growth (n+g, see Box 1).

The author's show that with the same hypothesis, but with entrenched interests (the grey pressure is able to impose its entitlement to a replacement ratio based on its contributions⁹), the transition between generations is softer: the transition generation will not bear the whole burden.

On the one hand, entrenched interests block reform towards a more efficient scheme, on the other hand they mitigates the impact of efficiency resulting from the nature of political process itself.

Artus and Legros [1997] have obtained the same, usual results: if the return on savings (i.e. on physical capital) is higher than the return on PAYG pension schemes (i.e. n+g), which (see above) is a hypothesis that can be denied except considering the very long run, a transition towards a funded scheme is desirable. But, in this case, while the social optimum would be a move to a funded scheme, the lack of altruism – entrenched interest – in the older generation (retirees or near retirees) imposes a generous PAYG which has a disastrous influence on the economic growth.

In fact, one can show very clearly the importance in considering the (very) long run in the "pension schemes file". The most famous example of this importance is the impact of immigration on pension schemes equilibrium: during the working (and contributing) period of the immigrants, there is a transition period characterised by a surplus which disappears as soon as the migrants retire.

Others examples show the importance of taking into account the long run.

⁹ Losing the godwill of an other part of the electorate if they do not represent the majority. This is limited of course, because after a certain limit, the other part of the electorate refuse higher contributions.

With regard to France, the Charpin report (named after the Director of the French planning agency, and published in spring 1999) put much emphasis on the very long run (forecasts were given up to 2040). Roughly speaking the main recommendation was:

- To develop a reserve fund within the PAYG scheme;
- To increase further the required duration for reaching the full pension rate in the general regime before age 65, thus extending the Balladur reform named after a former prime Minister (see Table 7), i.e. 42.5 years of contributions instead of 40. Given the current distribution of ages at entry into the labour force, this should *de facto* raise the normal age at retirement to 65.

Despite the very cautious approach of its authors, the report has been perceived as extremely pessimistic as attested by reactions of the social partners, the *media* and public opinion. Initial reactions was that increasing the pensionable age was not realistic in a period of high unemployment among the elderly, but favourable recent trends suggest that unemployment should progressively disappear and could progressively become less of an obstacle to policies aimed at increasing the age of retirement. Despite this new context, the opinions remain strongly divided and the early retirement is seen as vested interest.

A simulation exercise on French pension scheme by Hamayon *et al.* helps to understand why. It shows that increasing the retirement age and creating a reserve fund with the scheme surplus that results from the decreasing equilibrium contribution rate, the effective rate can remain constant till 2045^{10} . This has strong implication on PAYG return, because during the phase of retirement increase the yield is much lower than without reform (Table 8) but this yield gets higher at the end of the simulation problem (Table 8: columns 3 and 7), notably because contributions are lower and economic growth higher.

 $^{^{10}}$ In addition this mechanism avoids the use of budget source to feed the reserve fund and limits the intergenerational problem revealed by Kotlikoff [1992] or Disney [2000].

	No ref	form	Reform: increase of pension age (42.5 years of contributions) and Reserve fund					
Years	Contributio n rate	Actuarial yields for	Equ. contribution	Effective contribution	Reserve fund	Actuarial yield for		
	(% of gross wages)	selected cohorts*	rate	rate	surplus (% of GNP)	selected cohorts*		
2000	27.5	3.6	27.5	26.8	0.0	3.6		
2010	28.0	2.8	24.2	26.8	3.0	2.5		
2020	31.0	2.6	25.5	26.8	7.5	2.3		
2030	33.5	2.5	28.2	26.8	8.0	2.45		
2040	34.0	2.3	29.8	26.8	2.5	2.55		

 Table 8: French model under reform

 Model of French pension system with unique scheme of average wage-earners

*years indicates dates of retirement

Source: Hamayon, Legros and Sylvain (2000)

One can consider that taking into account the very long run would be a characteristic of immortal people (the equivalence between infinite life and altruism is well known) which is the case for a country. Barr [2000] uses that argument in order to show that there is no matter to pre fund pension schemes unless it has a positive effect on output: what matters is the sustainability of the whole debt and not only age-related liabilities.

Following this argument, taking into account that increasing the pensionable age will have only temporary effects if this increase is not a continuous function of the life expectancy (in the French above example with trust fund, the pension scheme has a new deficit in 2042 if there is no new reform), one can imagine a kind of mechanism which stabilise the whole public debt: associating age related and non age related debt.

In a environment where the public debts are to collapse, and will be important surpluses (which is the actual trend), Artus [2000b] shows that it would be efficient to use these surpluses in order to feed trust pensions funds and argues that investing these surpluses for half part in bonds and for half part in equities would permit to receive the excess returns associated to equities.

These reserve funds associated with increase of the pensionable age would solve the pension problem in most countries in the very long run. In addition, even with low financial returns, this is a mean to gain the difference between improved returns, when diversifying portfolios, and interests on reduced public debt.

This mechanism implies, of course, an important increase of the age related debt in the global public debts.

To sum up, recent experiences in Europe indicated that pension reforms are a curious mix of political and economic problems, which need to take the very long run into account. As pension reforms are often a field for ideological debates, with a lack of attention for the long run, the reforms are often partial and/or sub-optimal and/or of very short run effect. In fact, it seems very difficult to find a consensual Pareto-improving path; and pathes are of course non-unique but the main difficulty could be being able to differentiate between what is useful and what is not. Life expectancy is growing implying an important increase of age related burden. As there is no miracle to decrease this burden, the problem is reduced to a simple set of questions: do I accept to pay more – now, tomorrow, longer -? If the answer is negative, a dramatic impoverishment of the eldest.

REFERENCES

AARON, HENRY J., SHOVEN JOHN B. (1999), « Should the United States Privatize Social Security ? »; The MIT Press; Cambridge.

ARTUS PATRICK(1999), "Le vieillissement de la population est mondial: la génération active présente sera sacrifiée "; WP CDC N° 99-03.

ARTUS PATRICK (2000a), "Quelques résultats de base, préalables à la réflexion sur les retraites "; Flash Caisse des dépôts et consignations, N° 2000-17, January.

ARTUS PATRICK (2000b), "Réduction de la dette publique ou financement des retraites ? "; Flash Caisse des dépôts et consignations, N° 2000-183, October.

ARTUS, PATRICK, LEGROS, FLORENCE, (1997), "Vieillissement de la population, pouvoir politique, système de retraite et croissance"; *Revue économique*

BARR NICHOLAS (2000), « Reforming pensions: myths, truths, and policy choices »; IMF WP N° 00/139.

BLANCHET DIDIER, MAHIEU RONAN, (2001), "Une analyse microéconométrique des comportements de retrait d'activité"; *Revue d'économie politique*, forthcoming.

BLÖNDAL S, SCARPETTA S. (1999), « Early retirement in OECD countries: the role of social security systems »; *OECD Economic studies*, N° 29

BROWNING, EK. (1975), « Why is the social insurance budget too large in a democratic society ? », *Economic inquiry*, 13.

CASAMATTA GEORGES (1999), "L'économie politique de la protection sociale et de la redistribution"; PHD Thesis, University of Toulouse.

CASAMATTA GEORGES, CREMER HELMUT H, PESTIEAU PIERRE, (1999), « The political economy of social security reform », Mimeo, University of Toulouse.

CASAMATTA GEORGES, CREMER HELMUT H, PESTIEAU PIERRE, (2000), « Political sustainability and the design of social insurance », *Journal of public economics*, 75-3.

CREMER HELMUT H, PESTIEAU PIERRE (2000), « Reforming our pensions system: is it a demographic, financial or political problem ? », *European economic review*, 44.

DISNEY RICHARD (2000), « Crises in public pension programmes in OECD: what are the reform options ? »; *The economic journal*, 110, February.

FELDSTEIN MARTIN S. (1973), « Social security, Induced retirement and Aggregate Capital Accumulation », Harvard Institute of Economic Research Discussion Paper N° 312.

HAMAYON STÉPHANE, LEGROS FLORENCE, SYLVAIN ARNAUD, (2000), « Incidence d'un fonds de réserve des retraites dans une maquette démoéconomique », contribution to the second "Pension schemes workshop", Caisse des dépôts et consignations, Bordeaux, March.

HOLZMANN ROBERT (2000), « Can investments in Emerging Markets Help to Solve the Aging Problem ? »; World Bank, April.

KOTLIKOFF LAWRENCE(1992), Generational accounting; New York; Free Press

OECD (2000), Reforms for an ageing society, OECD-Social Issues, Paris

PESTIEAU PIERRE, POSSEN URI M. (1998), « Investing social security in the Stock Market. Does it make a difference? », *National tax journal*.

LIST OF WORKING PAPERS REALISED BY THE CEPII

2001

"Discrimination commerciale : une mesure à partir des flux bilatéraux", Guillaume Gaulier, *document de travail n°01-04*, Mars.

"Heterogeneous Expectations, Currency Options and the Eruo/Dollar Exchange Rate", Bronka Rzepkowski, *working paper n°01-03*, March.

"Defining Consumption Behavior in a Multi-Country Model ", Olivier Allais, Loïc Cadiou, Stéphane Dées, *working paper n°01-02*, February.

"Pouvoir prédictif de la volatilité implicite dans le prix des options de change ", Bronka Rzepkowski, *document de travail*, n° 01-01, Janvier.

2000

Forum Economique Franco-Allemand/Deutsch-Französisches Wirtschaftspolitisches Forum, "Trade Rules and Global Governance : A Long Term Agenda/The Future of Banking in Europe 7th meeting, July 3-4 2000", *working paper n°00-22*, December.

"The Wage Curve: The Lessons of an Estimation over a Panel of Countries", Stéphanie Guichard, Jean-Pierre Laffargue, *working paper* $n^{\circ}00-21$, December.

"A Computational General Equilibrium Model with Vintage Capital", Loïc Cadiou, Stéphane Dées, Jean-Pierre Laffargue, *working paper n°00-20*, December.

"Consumption Habit and Equity Premium in the G7 Countries", Olivier Allais, Loïc Cadiou and Stéphane Dées, *working paper n°00-19*, December.

"Capital Stock and Productivity in French Transport: An International Comparison", Bernard Chane Kune et Nanno Mulder, *working paper n°00-18*, December.

"Programme de travail 2001", document de travail n°00-17, Décembre.

"La gestion des crises de liquidité internationale : logique de faillite, prêteur en dernier ressort et conditionnalité", Jérôme Sgard, *document de travail n°00-16*, Novembre.

"La mesure des protections commerciales nationales ", Antoine Bouët, *document de travail* $n^{\circ}00-15$, Novembre.

"The Convergence of Automobile Prices in the European Union : an Empirical Analysis for the Period 1993-1999", Sébastien Jean, Séverine Haller, *working paper n°00-14*, November.

"International Trade and Firm's Heterogeneity Under Monopolistic Competition", Sébastien Jean, *working paper n°00-13*, September.

"Syndrome, miracle, modèle polder et autres spécificités néerlandaises : quels enseignements pour l'emploi en France", Sébastien Jean, *document de travail n° 00-12*, Juillet.

"FDI and the Opening Up of China's Economy", Françoise Lemoine, working paper $n^{\circ}00-11$, June.

"Big and Small Currencies : The regional Connection ", Agnès Bénassy-Quéré and Benoît Coeuré, *working paper n°00-10*, June.

"Structural Changes in Asia and Groth Prospects after the Crisis", Jean-Claude Berthélemy and Sophie Chauvin, *working paper n°00-09*, May.

"The International Monetary Fund and the International Financial Architecture", Michel Aglietta, *working paper* $n^{\circ}00-08$, May.

"The Effect of International Trade on Labour-Demand Elasticities : Intersectoral Matters ", Sébastien Jean, *working paper n°00-07*, May.

"Foreign Direct Investment and the Prospects for Tax Co-Ordination in Europe", Agnès Bénassy-Quéré, Lionel Fontagné et Amina Lahrèche-Révil, *working paper n°00-06*, April.

"Forum Economique Franco-Allemand " – Economic Growth in Europe Entering a New Area ?/ The First Year of EMU, 6^{eme} meeting, Bonn, January 17-18 January 2000, *working paper n°00-05*, April.

"The Expectations of Hong Kong Dollar Devaluation and their Determinants", Bronka Rzepkowski, *working paper* n° 00-04, February.

"What Drove Relative Wages in France ? Structural Decomposition Analysis in a General Equilibrium Framework, 1970-1992", Sébastien Jean and Olivier Bontout, *working paper n* $^{\circ}$ 00-03, January.

"Le passage des retraites de la répartition à la capitalisation obligatoire : des simulations à l'aide d'une maquette", Olivia Rouguet and Pierre Villa, *document de travail* n° 00-02, Janvier.

"Rapport d'activité 1999", document de travail n° 00-01, Janvier.

1999

"Exchange Rate Strategies in the Competition for Attracting FDI", Agnès Bénassy-Quéré, Lionel Fontagné and Amina Lahrèche-Révil, *working paper n° 99-16*, December.

"Groupe d'échanges et de réflexion sur la Caspienne. Recueil des comptes-rendus de réunion (déc. 97-oct. 98)", Dominique Pianelli and Georges Sokoloff, *document de travail* $n^{\circ}99-15$, Novembre.

"The Impact of Foreign Exchange Interventions: New Evidence from FIGARCH Estimations", Michel Beine, Agnès Bénassy-Quéré and Christelle Lecourt, *working paper* $n^{\circ}99-14$, September.

"Forum Economique Franco-Allemand Deutsch-Französisches Wirtschaftspolitisches Forum", Reduction of Working Time/Eastward Enlargment of the European Union, 5th meeting, Paris, July 6-7 1999", *working paper n° 99-13*, September.

"A Lender of Last Resort for Europe", Michel Aglietta, *working paper* n° 99-12, September. **OUT-OF-PRINT**

"La diversité des marchés du travail en Europe : Quelles conséquences pour l'Union Monétaire ; Deuxième partie : Les implications macro-économiques de la diversité des marchés du travail", Loïc Cadiou, Stéphanie Guichard and Mathilde Maurel, *document de travail* n° 99-11, Juin.

"La diversité des marchés du travail en Europe : Quelles conséquences pour l'Union Monétaire ; Première partie : La diversité des marchés du travail dans les pays de l'Union Européenne", Loïc Cadiou and Stéphanie Guichard, *document de travail 99-10*, Juin.

"The Role of External Variables in the Chinese Economy; Simulations from a macroeconometric model of China", Stéphane Dées, *working paper n° 99-09*, June.

"Haute technologie et échelles de qualité: de fortes asymétries en Europe", Lionel Fontagné, Mickaël Freudenberg and Deniz Ünal-Kesenci, *document de travail n °99-08*, Juin.

"The Role of Capital Accumultion, Adjustment and Structural Change for Economic Take-Off: Empirical Evidence from African Growth Episodes", Jean-Claude Berthélemy and L. Söderling, *working paper n* $^{\circ}$ *99-07*, April.

"Enterprise Adjustment and the Role of Bank Credit in Russia: Evidence from a 420 Firm's Qualitative Survey", Sophie Brana, Mathilde Maurel and Jérôme Sgard, *working paper* $n^{\circ}99-06$, April.

"Central and Eastern European Countries in the International Division of Labour in Europe", M. Freudenberg and F. Lemoine, *working paper n° 99-05*, April.

"Forum Economique Franco-Allemand – Economic Policy Coordination – 4^{th} meeting, Bonn, January 11-12 1999", *working paper n*° 99-04, April.

"Models of Exchange Rate Expectations : Heterogeneous Evidence From Panel Data", Agnès Bénassy-Quéré, Sophie Larribeau and Ronald MacDonald, *working paper n° 99-03*, April.

"Forum Economique Franco-Allemand –Labour Market & Tax Policy in the EMU", *working paper n*° 99-02, March.

"Programme de travail 1999", *document de travail n° 99-01*, Janvier.

1998

"Rapport d'activité 1998", document de travail n° 98-15, Décembre.

"Monetary Policy under a Fixed Exchange Rate Regime, The Case of France 1987-1996", Benoît Mojon, *working paper* n° 98-14, December.

"Wages and Unemployment: Trade-off Under Different Labour Market Paradigms", Olivier Bontout and Sébastien Jean, *working paper n° 98-13*, November.

"Structures financières et transmission de la politique monétaire, analyses comparatives de l'Allemagne, la France, l'Italie et le Royaume-Uni", Benoît Mojon, *document de travail* $n^{\circ}98-12$, Octobre.

"Le marché du travail britannique vu de France", Michel Fouquin, Sébastien Jean and A. Sztulman, *document de travail n° 98-11*, Octobre.

"Compétitivité et régime de change en Europe Centrale", Michel Aglietta, Camille Baulant and Virginie Coudert, *document de travail n° 98-10*, Octobre.

"Sensibilité des salaires relatifs aux chocs exogènes de commerce international et de progrès technique : une évaluation d'équilibre général", Sébastien Jean and Olivier Bontout, *document de travail n*° 98-09, Septembre.

"Evolution sur longue période de l'intensité énergétique", Pierre Villa, *document de travail* $n^{\circ}98-08$, Août.

"Sacrifice Ratios in Europe: Comparison", Laurence Boone, Benoît Mojon, *working paper* $n^{\circ}98-07$, August.

"La politique monétaire et la crise japonaise", Stéphanie Guichard, *document de travail* $n^{\circ}98-06$, Juillet.

"La régionalisation du commerce international : une évaluation par les intensités relatives bilatérales", Michaël Freudenberg, Guillaume Gaulier, Deniz Ünal-Kesenci, *document de travail* $n^{\circ}98-05$, Juillet.

"Pegging the CEEC's Currencies to the Euro", Agnès Bénassy-Quéré, Amina Lahrèche-Révil, *working paper n° 98-04*, July.

"The International Role of Euro", Agnès Bénassy-Quéré, Benoît Mojon, Armand-Denis Schor, *working paper n° 98-03*, July.

"EMU and Transatlantic Exchange Rate Stability", Agnès Bénassy-Quéré and Benoît Mojon, *working paper n° 98-02*, April.

"Programme de travail 1998", Jean-Claude Berthélemy, document de travail° 98-01, Avril.